SEP 19 2012

No. S203124

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JERRY BEEMAN and PHARMACY SERVICES et al.,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

ANTHEM PRESCRIPTION MANAGEMENT et al.,

Defendants-Appellants.

Question Certified from the En Banc United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, Case Nos. 07-56692, 07-56693

#### APPELLANTS' CONSOLIDATED OPENING BRIEF

THOMAS M. DEE
(Pro Hac Vice Pending)
CHRISTOPHER A. SMITH
(Pro Hac Vice Pending)
HUSCH BLACKWELL LLP
190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 600
St. Louis, Missouri 63105
Tel: (314) 480-1500
tom.dee@huschblackwell.com

THEODORE J. BOUTROUS, JR. (132099)

Counsel of Record

GAIL E. LEES (90363)

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED

The question certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit for this Court's review is: Does California Civil Code section 2527 compel speech in violation of article I, section 2 of the California Constitution?

#### INTRODUCTION

Civil Code section 2527 requires prescription drug claims processors to compile, summarize, and disseminate information on pharmaceutical fees that directly harms their interests by supporting pharmacists in negotiations over rates of reimbursement for pharmaceuticals and in the public debate over reimbursement rate regulation.

A divided Ninth Circuit panel held that the statute is not entitled to *any* constitutional scrutiny under either the California Constitution's free speech clause or the First Amendment, because the speech compelled is "fact based" and does not require claims processors "to advocate any position or 'endorse' any 'pledge or motto' that is contrary to their beliefs." But there is no exception to the free speech protections of either the California or federal Constitution for "fact-based" speech; indeed, the United States

Supreme Court held recently that the "First Amendment protects even dry information, devoid of advocacy, political relevance, or artistic expression." (Sorrell v. IMS Health Inc. (2011) 131 S.Ct. 2653, 2666–2667 (Sorrell).) And every California appellate court to address the question has held that section 2527 violates the California Constitution's free speech clause. (See ARP Pharmacy Services, Inc. v. Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc. (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 1307 (ARP); accord A.A.M. Health Group, Inc. v. Argus Health Systems, Inc. (Cal. Ct. App. Feb. 28, 2007, No. B183468) 2007 WL 602968 (A.A.M.); Bradley v. First Health Services Corp. (Cal. Ct. App. Feb. 28, 2007, No. B185672) 2007 WL 602969, review den. June 13, 2007 (Bradley).)

These decisions recognized (and the Ninth Circuit majority ignored) that the text of California's free speech clause is indisputably broader than the First Amendment's, as it protects speech "on *all* subjects." (Cal. Const., art. I, § 2, subd. (b), italics added.) As a result, and as this Court has held, "[t]he state Constitution's free speech provision is at least as broad as *and in some ways is broader* than the comparable provision of the federal Constitution's First Amendment." (*Kasky v. Nike* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 939, 958–959

(*Kasky*), italics added, citations omitted.) Thus, apart from section 2527's invalidity under the First Amendment, the statute violates California's free speech clause.

Because section 2527 compels the content of speech, it is subject to strict scrutiny, which means that the statute is *presumptively* invalid. Plaintiffs can overcome this presumption only by showing that the government has a "compelling interest" the statute is "narrowly tailored" to promote. But the government's purported buttressing pharmacists' strength in negotiating interest in reimbursement rates is not "compelling." Nor are the statute's means "narrowly tailored"—the information at issue could be gathered by the government or published by the pharmacists (who already have the information). There is no basis for compelling *claims processors* to gather, summarize, and transmit information that is against their interests and could be used to harm them in the public debate over reimbursement rate regulation.

Section 2527 may not be construed as regulating "commercial" speech warranting lesser constitutional scrutiny, because section 2527 does not regulate a commercial transaction or speech that is inherently or even potentially deceptive. But even under intermediate scrutiny,

the statute should still be invalidated because it is not premised on a substantial government interest, but rather on a stated "hope" that dissemination of fee studies would, over time, increase the rates paid to retail pharmacies. Section 2527 thus fails any level of "heightened scrutiny," regardless of whether the speech compelled is deemed "commercial."

The California courts of appeal have uniformly and correctly held that section 2527 compels speech and therefore violates the free speech clause of the California Constitution. This Court should so hold as well.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs filed a putative class action complaint in 2002 and a second complaint in 2004, alleging that defendants violated Civil Code section 2527, subdivision (c), by failing to transmit the studies required by the statute. (See Beeman v. TDI Managed Care Services, Inc. (2006) 449 F.3d 1035, 1039 (Beeman I).) Defendants moved for judgment the pleadings, arguing that section 2527 unconstitutionally compels speech in violation of both the California and federal Constitutions. (Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Management, LLC (9th Cir. 2011) 652 F.3d 1085, 1089 (Beeman II).) The district court denied the motion, and certified its decision for interlocutory review, which the Ninth Circuit granted. (*Id.* at p. 1092.)

The Ninth Circuit then affirmed in a split decision. (*Beeman II*, *supra*, 652 F.3d at p. 1107.) Defendants petitioned for rehearing en banc, which the Ninth Circuit granted. (*Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Management, LLC* (9th Cir. 2011) 661 F.3d 1199, 1201.) The en banc court then certified the question presented here for this Court's review. (*Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Management, LLC* (9th Cir. June 6, 2012) 2012 WL 2775005, at \*1–2 [en banc].) On July 18, 2012, this Court agreed to decide the certified question.

#### SUMMARY OF KEY FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

#### I. Factual Background

# A. The Relationship Between Pharmacy Benefit Managers, Payors, and Pharmacies

Defendants-appellants are current or former pharmacy benefit managers ("PBMs"), which contract with third-party payors or health plan administrators such as insurers, HMOs, governmental entities, and employers to facilitate cost-effective delivery of prescription drugs to health plan members or other persons to whom the third-party payors provide prescription drug benefits. (Ninth Circuit

Excerpts of Record "ER" 163–164; see *Beeman II*, *supra*, 652 F.3d at p. 1090.)<sup>1</sup> PBMs assist third-party payors and health plan administrators by, among other things, determining claims for prescription drug benefits submitted by pharmacies, thereby acting as intermediaries between third-party payors and pharmacies. (ER157–158, 179; see *Beeman II*, *supra*, 652 F.3d at p. 1090.)

PBMs may create networks of retail pharmacies that agree to accept certain reimbursement rates when they fill prescriptions for health plan members. Network reimbursements generally are lower than what pharmacies would charge uninsured, cash-paying customers. Such networks keep costs down for health plan sponsors, and being part of a network helps a pharmacy expand its customer base, thereby increasing its sales volume for both prescription drugs and other items. (See *Beeman II*, *supra*, 652 F.3d at p. 1090.)

The statutory scheme applies to "prescription drug claims processors," a term defined in the statute and subject to several exceptions. (Civ. Code, § 2527, subd. (b).) The PBM-defendants maintain they are not "prescription drug claims processors," and reserve their objections, but the trial court has not reached that issue, and it therefore is not ripe in this appeal. (See *Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Management, LLC* (9th Cir. June 6, 2012) 2012 WL 2775005, at \*2, fn. 1 [en banc].)

Plaintiffs-respondents are pharmacists who allege that they own independent retail pharmacies licensed in California. (ER152–153, 177–178.)

# B. Civil Code Section 2527's Requirements and Section 2528's Civil Penalty Scheme

Section 2527 of the Civil Code requires that every prescription drug claims processor in California conduct or obtain "the results of a study or studies which identifies the fees ... of all, or of a statistically significant sample, of California pharmacies, for pharmaceutical dispensing services to private consumers ...." (Civ. Code, § 2527, subd. (c).) The fees "shall be computed by reviewing a sample of the pharmacy's usual charges for a random or other representative sample of commonly prescribed drug products, subtracting the average wholesale price of drug ingredients, and averaging the resulting fees by dividing the aggregate of the fees by the number of prescriptions reviewed." (*Ibid.*)

Along with the raw data, the report "shall include a preface, an explanatory summary of the results and findings including a comparison of the fees of California pharmacies by setting forth the mean fee and standard deviation, the range of fees and fee percentiles

(10th, 20th, 30th, 40th, 50th, 60th, 70th, 80th, 90th)." (Civ. Code, § 2527, subd. (c).)

The information described "shall be transmitted by certified mail by each prescription drug claims processor to the chief executive officer or designee, of each client for whom it performs claims processing services." (Civ. Code, § 2527, subd. (d).) These transmissions must occur every 24 months. (*Ibid.*)

In the event a claims processor does not comply with the commands of section 2527, it may be subject to a civil lawsuit under section 2528, which gives "[a]ny owner of a licensed California pharmacy ... standing to bring an action seeking a civil remedy." (Civ. Code, § 2527, subd. (c).) Plaintiffs in such suits may be entitled to "statutory damages of not less than one thousand dollars (\$1,000) or more than ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) depending on the severity or gravity of the violation," as well as "reasonable attorney's fees and costs, declaratory and injunctive relief, and any other relief which the court deems proper." (*Id.*, § 2528.)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 2527 does not define a "violation," but plaintiffs have asserted that a violation occurs *each time a prescription is processed*. (ER60, 152–153.) They therefore seek aggregated penalties on behalf of 2,200 California pharmacies for "multiple" alleged "violations," which they claim warrant several *billion* 

# C. Pharmacists Lobbied for the Enactment of Section 2527 to Increase Prescription Reimbursement Rates

The legislative effort that resulted in section 2527 began in 1981, when "the California Pharmacists Association introduced a bill which would require PBM reimbursements at customary charges made by pharmacies rather than the rates unilaterally set by PBMs." (*Beeman I, supra*, 449 F.3d at p. 1038.) Assemblyman Lancaster, who carried Assembly Bill AB2044 for the Association, described the bill as a "proposed remedy" to a system whereby insurers "pay pharmacists Medi-Cal rates—or less." (ER134.)<sup>3</sup>

Assembly Committee staff prepared and distributed a background paper about the bill for use by committee members in connection with public hearings held on October 27, 1981. That paper described the proposed legislation and its sponsors:

Assembly Bill 2044 is sponsored by the California Pharmacists Association. The membership of the association consists of individual pharmacists....

dollars in penalties. (ER159, 167, 181, 189.) The potential for arbitrary and oppressive punishment from the aggregation of penalties in this way raises a whole host of constitutional problems that would need to be addressed if the statute were upheld. (See, e.g., *Hale v. Morgan* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 388, 397–398.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The relevant legislative history is part of the record on appeal. Cited excerpts are compiled at ER129–148.

The association believes that the present system of reimbursement, which provides for a fixed fee plus actual cost of ingredients, rather than the usual and customary charge, is inequitable. A pharmacist is placed in the position of either signing up as a participant under the contract or facing a serious loss of volume of prescription business....

The goal of the sponsor of the bill is to achieve by legislation a reimbursement policy which it believes is equitable, a goal members cannot achieve through collective bargaining and have not achieved through the courts. The goal of third-party administrators and payors, on the other hand, is to keep costs as low as possible, a goal in direct conflict with that of the pharmacists.

### (ER141–142.)

Opposition to the bill developed, most notably from various California executive branch agencies. For example, the Department of Insurance opposed the bill, concluding: "The end result of the bill, we think, [would] be to increase premiums to all insureds, with *pharmacies* being the ultimate beneficiaries. We think it is not in the best interest of the insurance-buying public." (ER144, italics added.)

The initial price-setting bill never emerged from legislative committee. Instead, AB2044 was amended in several respects, most notably by eliminating the price-setting feature and substituting the requirements now at issue—compelling the claims processors to

disseminate reports on the fees that California pharmacies charge private consumers.

The proponents of the new provisions hoped that by forcing claims processors to report the fees being paid to pharmacies, the pharmacies would be able to use that data in negotiating for higher reimbursement rates from third-party payors. In describing these new provisions, staff to the Assembly Committee on Finance, Insurance, and Commerce explained:

It is the position of the sponsor of the bill that a pharmacist should be reimbursed by a third party payor according to the pharmacist's usual and customary charge, and that instead, a pharmacist is presently reimbursed according to the Medi-Cal reimbursement. The purpose of this bill is to require claims processors to present objective data on the range and percentiles of usual and customary charges of pharmacists in the hope that at a time in the future this information will become the basis for reimbursement.

(ARP, supra, 138 Cal.App.4th at p. 1319 [quoting legislative history]; ER146.) The legislative purpose of the final version of AB2044 was:

to encourage insurers to pay pharmacists a fair rate for drug dispensing services. Section 2527 sought to accomplish this goal by requiring drug claims processors to provide statistical surveys of the customary charges for dispensing services for private-pay consumers.

(*ARP*, at p. 1320.)

The pharmacists also have not lost hope on their original effort to pass legislation mandating more "fair" and "equitable" rates of reimbursement. They have contended that dissemination of the studies under section 2527 could inspire "lobby[ing] for legislative intervention should that be necessary" if higher, negotiated reimbursement rates are not achieved. (*Beeman I, supra*, 449 F.3d at p. 1039.)

### II. Procedural History

These cases have had a long and complex path through the state and federal courts.

In 2002, plaintiffs filed a putative class action complaint in the United States District Court for the Central District of California alleging claims for: (1) violation of section 2527 for failure to conduct fee studies mandated by section 2527, subdivision (c); (2) unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business acts in violation of California Business and Professions Code section 17200, predicated on alleged violations of section 2527; and (3) declaratory relief and unjust enrichment, also predicated on alleged violations of section 2527. (ER189–193.) In 2004, plaintiffs filed a second federal court complaint alleging virtually identical claims against a second group of

defendants on behalf of a putative class of pharmacists. (ER167–171.)

Defendants first moved to dismiss the claims due to plaintiffs' lack of standing under Article III of the United States Constitution. (*Beeman I, supra*, 449 F.3d at p. 1038.) The district court granted defendants' motion, but the Ninth Circuit reversed that decision and remanded the case, without ruling on the merits of defendants' free speech challenge. (*Id.* at p. 1040.)<sup>4</sup>

On remand, defendants filed motions for judgment on the pleadings, challenging the constitutionality of section 2527. The defendants relied on "three California state appellate court decisions, including *Bradley*, all of which held that § 2527 violates the California Constitution's free speech provision." (*Beeman II*, *supra*, 652 F.3d at p. 1092; see, e.g., *ARP*, *supra*, 138 Cal.App.4th at p. 1322 ["We conclude that the reporting requirement in section 2527 and the

In the meantime, three of the five plaintiffs (represented by the same counsel here) filed suit against most of the *Beeman* defendants in Los Angeles County Superior Court, asserting the same three causes of action predicated on supposed violations of section 2527. (See *Bradley*, *supra*, 2007 WL 602969, at \*1.) The trial court in *Bradley* declared section 2527 unconstitutional under state law and dismissed the action on demurrers, the court of appeal affirmed (*ibid.*), and this Court denied review on June 13, 2007.

related penalty and enforcement provisions in section 2528 violate the free speech provision of the California Constitution"]; accord *A.A.M.*, *supra*, 2007 WL 602968, at \*2; *Bradley*, *supra*, 2007 WL 602969, at \*2.)<sup>5</sup>

The district court denied defendants' motions, holding that section 2527 "does not violate the free speech rights of PBMs under either the federal or California Constitution." (ER118.) Although ARP involved the same claims and was directly on point (138 Cal.App.4th at p. 1322), the court rejected that decision, relying heavily on its analysis of Rumsfeld v. Forum for Academic & Institutional Rights, Inc. (2006) 547 U.S. 47 (FAIR), which it interpreted as "undermin[ing] ARP's key holdings" (ER97). The court distinguished another United States Supreme Court decision relied upon by ARP (Riley v. Nat. Federation of the Blind (1988) 487 U.S. 781 (Riley)) on the ground that Riley protects only certain kinds of "core speech," such as political or ideological opinions (ER104, 108–109). In the district court's view, "the U.S. Supreme Court has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Appellants acknowledge that because the *Bradley* and *A.A.M.* decisions are unpublished they cannot be relied on as authority. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.1115(a).) The cases are relevant to the procedural history and basis for the Ninth Circuit's decision.

declined to subject statutes to any discernible level of constitutional scrutiny after determining that they involve no 'compelled recitation of a message containing an affirmation of belief.'" (ER114, citing, inter alia, FAIR, supra, 547 U.S. at pp. 62–65.)<sup>6</sup>

The Ninth Circuit affirmed in a split decision. The two-judge majority held that it was not required by *Erie Railway Co. v. Tomkins* (1938) 304 U.S. 64 to follow the California Court of Appeal's decisions in *ARP*, *A.A.M.*, and *Bradley*, because the panel majority disagreed with those courts' interpretations of the First Amendment. (*Beeman II*, *supra*, 652 F.3d at p. 1107.) The panel majority, like the district court, rejected *ARP*'s application of *FAIR* and *Riley*. The panel determined that under *FAIR*, the First Amendment is implicated only with respect to speech such as "Government-mandated pledge[s] or motto[s]," which the report required by section 2527 is not. (*Id.* at p. 1100.) And the court held that *Riley* applies only to reporting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The district court also separately granted in part defendants' motions for summary judgment based on *res judicata*. (ER36.) The court ruled that the three plaintiffs in *Bradley* were precluded by the final judgment in that state action from pursuing their overlapping claims in the federal case. However, the court refused to apply *res judicata* to the plaintiffs in the federal cases who were not also parties in *Bradley*. (*Ibid*.) Those rulings are not at issue in this appeal.

requirements that chill speech otherwise protectable under the court's view of *FAIR*. (*Id.* at pp. 1099–1100.)

Judge Wardlaw dissented from the panel's decision, noting that "[t]he majority disregard[ed] not one but three intermediate California appellate decisions holding that California Civil Code § 2527 violates Article I, section 2 of the California Constitution." (*Beeman II, supra*, 652 F.3d at p. 1107 [dis. opn. of Wardlaw, J.].) She also rejected the majority's proffered distinctions of *FAIR* and *Riley*, and explained that *Sorrell v. IMS Health Inc.*, *supra*, 131 S.Ct. 2653, which the majority addressed only once in a footnote, was directly on point, as it held that the "First Amendment protects even dry information, devoid of advocacy, political relevance, or artistic expression." (*Beeman II*, at p. 1111, quoting *Sorrell*, at pp. 2666–2667.)

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