## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JERRY BEEMAN AND PHARMACY SERVICES, et al.,

SUPREME COURT
FILFD

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

DEC - 6 2012

v.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

ANTHEM PRESCRIPTION MANAGEMENT, et al., ..

Deputy

Defendants-Appellants.

QUESTION CERTIFIED FROM THE EN BANC U.S. COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT, CASE NOS. 07-56692, 07-56693

### RESPONDENTS' CONSOLIDATED ANSWERING BRIEF

THE CONSUMER LAW GROUP Alan M. Mansfield (SBN 125998) Alan@clgca.com 10200 Willow Creek Rd, Ste 160 San Diego, CA 92131

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Respondents, plaintiffs in the actions identified below, submit this Joint Brief in Opposition to the Consolidated Opening Brief ("AOB") filed by defendants-appellants addressing the following question certified by this Court:

Does California Civil Code section 2527 compel speech in violation of article I, section 2 of the California Constitution?

For the reasons stated below, Respondents propose the question be re-stated as follows:

Does Civil Code section 2527's requirement that pharmacy benefit managers collect and report the charges imposed by California pharmacies to fill prescriptions for uninsured consumers constitute compelled speech subject to scrutiny under article I, section 2(a) of the California Constitution?

The Court is empowered to re-state the question certified by the Ninth Circuit. Cal.R.Ct. 8.548(f)(5).

The Ninth Circuit has asked this Court to decide whether the Legislature can require companies such as Appellants to collect and provide statistical data regarding pharmacies' fill-fees to their insurer and third party payer clients without running afoul of Article I, §2(a) of the California Constitution. If that reporting requirement raises any free speech issue at all, the issue it raises is substantially less significant than, for example, requiring super PACs to identify their donors --which this Court approved

just a few weeks ago in Fair Political Practices Commission v. Americans For Responsible Leadership, S206407, Order dated November 4, 2012 (ordering compliance with injunction requiring disclosure of political campaign contributors pursuant to Political Reform Act of 1974 (Gov. Code, §81000 et seq.)).

Both the federal district court presiding over this action and a majority panel of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals have determined that Civil Code §2527's requirement that Appellants distribute objective, statistical data regarding the fees pharmacies charge to uninsured consumers raises no constitutional question at all. They reached that conclusion after examining several U.S. Supreme Court decisions that made clear that laws compelling someone to say something raise constitutional questions "only if they affect the content of the message or speech by forcing the speaker to endorse a particular viewpoint or by chilling or burdening a message that the speaker would otherwise choose to make." Jerry Beeman & Pharmacy Services, Inc. v. Anthem Prescription Mgmt., LLC, 652 F.3d 1085, 1100 reh'g en banc granted, 661 F.3d 1199 (9th Cir. 2011) ("Beeman"). As the U.S. Supreme Court explained in Rumsfeld v. FAIR, 547 U.S. 47 (2006) ("FAIR"), requiring disclosure or display of objectively factual information (in that case, information regarding the presence of military recruiters on college campuses) "is simply not the same as forcing a student to pledge allegiance, or forcing a

Jehovah's Witness to display the motto 'Live Free or Die,' and it trivializes the freedom protected in [prior cases] to suggest that it is." *Id.* at 62.

With the exception of the Second Appellate District's decision in *ARP Pharmacy Services, Inc. v. Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc.*, 138 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1307 (2006) ("*ARP*"), which also addressed Civil Code §2527 and was criticized by the Ninth Circuit in *Beeman*, Appellants have not cited a single published California decision striking down a law that simply requires a company to disclose data to a third party. The Second Appellate District's decision in *ARP* was misguided. Under the analysis employed in *ARP* and parroted in the two unpublished opinions issued by the same Appellate District, nearly every law or regulation that requires a person or business to disclose any form of statistical, financial or other objectively truthful information would be subject to strict scrutiny review and unconstitutional, simply because the person required to make the disclosure says they would prefer not to make it, no matter the reason.

It is critical that this Court clarify that California law does not render disclosure statutes unconstitutional merely because persons governed by the statute claim they would rather not provide that information or because the statute requires disclosures that are to be made separately from, rather than together with, other statements, advertising or promotional material. The Court's decision in this case will directly affect the scope of the California Legislature's power to enact laws that require businesses to make factual

disclosures in a variety of circumstances, including to protect the public health and advance other important public policies. Courts are not supposed to second guess those policies, or arrogate for themselves a decision whether the policies underlying legislatively required disclosures are important or not. Yet that is precisely what Appellants suggest -- that this Court substantially restrict the California Legislature's power to enact such laws by imposing the highest level of constitutional scrutiny to nearly all disclosure statutes or laws that require businesses to disclose data and find them presumptively invalid, leaving it for the courts to decide if a disclosure law advances a significant or important public policy or not.

These serious flaws in the legal analysis proposed by Appellants are compounded in this case by the fact that the question here is presented to this Court at the pleading stage, without a developed factual record. Nor can one be developed in this proceeding. *Sullivan v. Oracle Corp.*, 51 Cal. 4th 1191, 1208 (2011) ("Given the limitations of the certified question procedure, ... our answer must be confined to the circumstances of this case as established by the stipulated facts.")

For example, Appellants cannot demonstrate that the data disclosure requirement in §2527 "chills" protected speech without a factual record reflecting (a) what the protected speech is and what message is actually conveyed, and (b) how the Act's disclosure requirement would affect that protected speech. *See, e.g., Buckley v. Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1, 74 (1976)

(evidence must show compelled disclosure "will subject them to threats, harassment, or reprisals" such as "specific evidence of past or present harassment"). The mere fact that Appellants claim now, over 30 years after the statute went into effect and only after they have been sued to enforce the statute, they would rather not disclose statistical data regarding California pharmacies' charges to fill prescriptions to uninsured consumers is not enough to require constitutional scrutiny of Civil Code §2527. They must show that the law's disclosure requirement compels them to express a particular viewpoint or opinion, chills their protected speech, or that it actually burdens other, protected speech in some constitutionally prohibited way. Appellants cannot make that showing on the sparse record presented to this Court to consider this certified question. The fact that Appellants did not present any of the evidence found necessary under Buckley despite the fact that they would control all of that evidence if it existed and despite having had over 25 years to gather such evidence – is compelling proof that evidence simply does not exist.

Appellants' contention that a law requiring businesses to report objectively factual data to their customers should be treated in the same manner as rules "forcing a student to pledge allegiance, or forcing a Jehovah's Witness to display the motto 'Live Free or Die'" "trivializes the freedom protected" in the cases that addressed those rules. *FAIR*, 547 U.S. at 62. Based on the record presented, the Court must affirm the District

Court's finding that, as a matter of law, Section 2527 is not facially unconstitutional.

This Court should restate the certified question and find that Section 2527 does *not* constitute compelled speech subject to scrutiny under article I, section 2(a) of the California Constitution, and is constitutional. Alternatively, based on the record presented, this Court must affirm the District Court's finding that, as a matter of law, Section 2527 is not facially unconstitutional under every conceivable application.

II.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND ADDITIONAL FACTS

At issue here are California Civil Code §§2527 and 2528, which the California Legislature adopted 30 years ago in an effort to combat further declines in the payments made to independent pharmacies for prescription medications dispensed to insured California consumers. It was proposed as compromise legislation, supported by both pharmacies and the Pharmacy Benefit Manager ("PBM") industry (including several of the Appellants, referred to in the statute as "prescription drug claims processors").

The Legislature was concerned about those declining reimbursement rates because many pharmacies (particularly community pharmacies that serve rural California) would be forced out of business as reimbursement rates fell below the cost of the medicines they dispensed, ultimately decreasing consumer choice. The Legislature determined that the continued

existence of those community pharmacies was important to insure that Californians in all areas of the state had access to medication. Rather than directly regulating reimbursement rates, the Legislature concluded that if the insurers and other third party payers who ultimately bear the financial responsibility for those reimbursements had more complete and accurate statistical data regarding pharmacies' usual and customary charges for filling prescriptions, they would learn that the fees they paid to pharmacies were already well below "retail" fees to fill prescriptions and thereby realize that cost savings would more likely be found in other areas of their business, which would ultimately lead to more affordable health care for consumers. See EOR 148 (Excerpts of Legislative History of Civil Code §§2527, stating that the law "may help identify areas of cost containment in the future").

Notwithstanding this and similar clear legislative history, Appellants suggest -- based on a similarly unsupported statement to that effect in *ARP* and with no citation to any record evidence -- that the law would result in higher healthcare costs. AOB at 11. In fact, the *ARP* court based that assertion on a single sentence in a legislative staff report, taken entirely out of context from a paragraph that merely said that pharmacists hoped to receive higher reimbursement rates, but said nothing to contradict the notion that those higher reimbursement rates could only be achieved if the survey data helped third party payors paying the reimbursements to find areas of

cost savings elsewhere. See EOR 146. This is not proper, let alone conclusive, evidence of legislative intent. See n.3, infra.

To accomplish the Legislature's purposes, Civil Code §2527 requires PBMs (which, contrary to their assertion in their Opening Brief, includes all the defendants in the present actions) to survey California pharmacies in order to learn the average charges imposed by those pharmacies to fill prescriptions for commonly prescribed drugs filled for private clients. Appellants do not challenge the law's requirement that they perform those surveys. The statute then simply requires defendants to provide the statistical data obtained through those surveys to their "clients" and provide updated information regarding pharmacies' fees every two years thereafter, which can be done simply by providing updated information using the Consumer Price Index rather than additional surveys. See Cal. Civ. Code Section 2527(d). The statute requires no specific statement, nor an endorsement of any particular message -- merely the dissemination of data and an explanation how the data are broken down. Id. at (c).

Section 2527 became law in 1981. For the next 20 years (the first lawsuit was filed in 2001), Appellants thumbed their noses at the law. Some ignored their obligations under the statute entirely, while others performed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "A study report shall include a preface, an explanatory summary of the results and findings including a comparison of the fees of California pharmacies by setting forth the mean fee and standard deviation, the range of fees and fee percentiles (10th, 20th, 30th, 40th, 50th,60th, 70th, 80th, 90th)."

their obligations so poorly as to render the information provided meaningless. For over 20 years it was never the subject of a constitutional challenge, and presumably many Appellants disseminated the required (albeit flawed) surveys without objection or any complaint and without generating any actual evidence that Appellants' free speech rights were somehow "chilled" or adversely impacted by doing so. EOR at 163-165; 185-187.

Plaintiffs filed Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Management, Inc. ("Beeman II") and Beeman v. TDI, etc., et al. [U.S.D.C. Case No. EDCV 02-1327-VAP (SGLx) ("Beeman I") (collectively, "Beeman"), simply to require defendants to comply with their obligations under the law, which they had ignored for so long.

Appellants' failure to comply with the statute clearly was not based on any concern that the law infringed their free speech rights. It was not until years after *Beeman* was filed that Appellants first asserted that the statute implicated free speech issues. In fact, this was such an inconsequential issue that two of the four Appellants in *Beeman I* (Express Scripts, Inc. and Medco Health Solutions, Inc.) did not even raise the First Amendment free speech issue as an Affirmative Defense in their Answers, let alone assert this is a basis for dismissal for several years. Plaintiffs-Respondents Supplemental Excerpts of Record ("SEOR") at 00096-97 and

00110-111.<sup>2</sup> During 2003, Appellants in *Beeman I* brought a series of summary adjudication motions allegedly designed to "streamline" that case (which were denied); they also did not raise the free speech issue in these motions. EOR at 0281-287.

The California Attorney General rejected the notion that this statute implicates any free speech issues. In an *Amicus* Brief dated May 24, 2006, the Attorney General expressed the State of California's position that Section 2527 *is* constitutional and raises no free speech issues. (SEOR at 0004-23).

#### III.

# THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER "NO" TO THE CERTIFIED OR RESTATED QUESTION

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and the District Court were right to reject Appellants' free speech challenge to Civil Code §2527's requirement that PBMs collect and then report statistical data regarding pharmacies' charges to third party payors. Disclosure and reporting requirements imposed on businesses are commonplace and not seriously subject to question on free speech grounds. Indeed, the reporting

In the federal court, where these actions are pending, challenges to the constitutionality of a statute relied upon by a plaintiff for his claims is an affirmative defense that must be asserted in the defendant's responsive pleading. *Kewanee Oil & Gas Co. v. Mosshamer*, 58 F.2d 711, 712 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1932) ("the contention that the state statute is unconstitutional is an affirmative defense, and must be so pleaded in the answer").

requirement contained in Civil Code §2527 should be particularly safe from free speech challenges because it only requires disclosure of statistical data with an explanation of what the data are, rather than a grammatical statement on some topic.

The Second Appellate District's contrary holding in ARP is inconsistent with the law and wrong. To reach its conclusion that Civil Code §2527 impermissibly infringes upon free speech rights, the ARP Court took several steps. First, it determined that laws that require businesses to transmit information that they "do not wish to send" are content based regulation of speech that implicate free speech rights. See ARP, 138 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> at 1315. Next, the court held that legally mandated disclosures that do not themselves either (a) propose a commercial transaction or (b) promote the regulated entity's business affect non-commercial speech, and therefore must be evaluated under strict scrutiny review. See id. at 1317 ("Nothing about the content of this report proposes a commercial transaction.... Nor does it promote the processors' business"). Finally, the court decided, based on no factual record at all, that Civil Code §2527 does not pass strict scrutiny review. Id. At each of those steps, the court misapplied the law.

The first conclusion reached by ARP (that §2527 is a content-based regulation of speech because it requires PBMs to transmit information that they "do not wish to send") is not the correct standard, and conflicts with

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